

Where next for feminist foreign policy on countering anti-gender backlash?

Ayesha Khan, Emilie Tant and Ján Michalko November 2023



Key messages

To counter the anti-gender movement, states with an existing or aspiring feminist foreign policy can work together to coordinate action to defend and uphold gender justice. Policy action can be taken at three levels: domestically, bilaterally and globally within multilateral spaces.

If FFP's core objective is upholding and advancing gender justice and equality, then tackling the causes and tactics of backlash must be a priority. FFP states are strategically well placed to tackle the complexity and international nature of anti-gender movements.

The five priority policy areas are: resourcing feminist movements; defending and upholding women's rights in multilateral agreements; avoiding disbursement of funds to anti-gender actors; protecting sexual and reproductive rights, and the civil and political liberties of all women and LGBTQI+ people; countering harmful discourse and narratives in digital spaces.

Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. The views presented in this paper are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of ODI or our partners.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.0.

Cover photo: Anti-femicide monument in Mexico City which reads 'in Mexico 10 women are murdered a day', 2020. Credit: Eve Orea/Shutterstock

How to cite: Khan, A., Tant, E. and Michalko, J. (2023) 'Where next for feminist foreign policy on countering anti-gender backlash?' ODI Policy brief. London: ODI. (<u>https://odi.org/en/publications/</u>feminist-foreign-policy-countering-anti-gender-backlash).

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank colleagues in the Gender Equality and Social Inclusion team for their support in the development of this policy brief and delivery of the ODI roundtable series. They include Caroline Harper, Natasha Wright, Diana Jimenez, Aatif Somji, and Abdul Walid Shahab.

Authors would also like to thank our generous peer-reviewers: Professor Anne-Marie Goetz and Sandra Pepera, as well as roundtable participants who offered their valuable feedback and comments: Spogmay Ahmed, Saskia Brechenmacher, Annika Bergman Rosamond, Paulina Ibarra, Aditi Mukund and Jessica Woodroffe. Finally, authors are very grateful to all those who participated in the ODI roundtable series and offered their time to share expertise and bring insights to this series.

Furthermore, the authors are immensely grateful to ALIGN's funders including the Government of Canada (through Global Affairs Canada) and Irish Aid.

About this publication

This policy brief forms part of the ODI series: *Where next for feminist foreign policy*? and was developed from a set of closed-door roundtables with leading experts and feminist actors.

It aims to bridge technical expertise, feminist advocacy and global scholarship, and delves into emerging aspects of feminist foreign policy. This series intends to advance understanding on intersecting agendas to establish potential directions for future research and policy.

About the authors

Ayesha Khan is a Senior Research Fellow in the Gender Equality and Social Inclusion (GESI) team at ODI.

Emilie Tant is the Strategic Communications and Policy Manager in the GESI team at ODI.

Ján Michalko is a Research Fellow in the GESI team at ODI.

Contents

Acknowledgements / III

Boxes, tables and figures / IV

About this policy brief / 1

Introduction / 2

Context / 3

1 $\,$ Resource feminist movements working at the frontlines of democracy and defending collective rights $\,/\,$ 5 $\,$

2 Defend and uphold the universality of human and women's rights in frameworks and conventions agreed in multilateral spaces / 7

3 Avoid funding actors that undermine gender equality and justice / 10

4 Protect sexual and reproductive rights, and uphold the civil and political liberties of all women and LGBTQI+ people both at home and abroad / 12

5 Counter harmful discourse, narratives and conspiracy theories, especially in digital spaces / 14

Conclusion / 16

Annex 1 Partial list of participants / 17

References / 18

Boxes, tables and figures

Boxes

Box 1 Leading from the South / 5

Box 2 FFP's role in challenging gender persecution in Afghanistan and Iran / 7

Box 3 Global initiatives to prevent online anti-gender backlash and democratic backsliding / 14

About this policy brief

This brief explores how countries with feminist foreign policy (FFP) and FFP-aspiring countries can take action together to challenge the anti-gender forces weakening gender justice, democracy, civic space, public life and global norms around equalities. Key recommendations are drawn from the existing literature, together with new insights gathered from ODI's closed-door roundtable 'How can feminist foreign policy counter the anti-rights and anti-democratic backlash?'.

It builds on the expertise of FFP scholars and diverse global feminist actors who participated in the conversation and voiced both sceptical and hopeful views about the potential of FFP (see Annex 1). It also brings forward ideas based on an ALIGN framing paper (Khan et al., 2023) and should be read alongside a FFP background note (Michalko, forthcoming) outlining some of the key tensions and proposals about FFP implementation (see also Brechenmacher, 2023).

This brief presents emerging ideas for FFP policymakers on how to urgently counter the global phenomena of anti-gender movements and anti-feminist backlash, identifying **five priority policy areas** for FFP and FFP-aspiring states.

Introduction

'Feminist foreign policy states need to take up the mantle on backlash – otherwise everybody's problem becomes nobody's problem.'

Sandra Pepera, Director, Gender Women & Democracy, National Democratic Institute

Backlash against progress on gender equality, LGBTQI+ diversity and feminism is now a wellrecognised global phenomenon (Goetz, 2020; Datta, 2021) – and is referred to in this policy brief as an anti-gender movement. This movement manifests most clearly in the rollback of sexual and reproductive rights, the reversal of gender equality policies, the defunding of related services and the curtailing of LGBTQI+ freedoms, such as the criminalisation of homosexuality. Those who belong to socially and racially marginalised groups are particularly targeted, with anti-gender actors promoting intolerance and xenophobia in efforts to undermine inclusive societies (Butler, 2023).

Diverse actors attacking gender equality and feminist causes have coalesced into a movement, one that vilifies what it terms 'gender ideology' in the name of upholding patriarchal power and values (Edstrom et al., 2023). While women and LGBTQI+ people are facing an increasingly hostile environment as a result of these actions, the denial of their equal rights is tied with the broader weakening of democratic norms, such as legislation to constrain civic space. As cases of hate crimes and femicides rise in places as diverse as Turkey, Burundi and Canada, there is a wider ongoing process that is eroding citizens' trust in democracy as states fail to uphold their side of the social contract or to provide public services (Goetz, 2023).

To resist the anti-gender movement, the international political community needs to take coordinated action to defend and uphold gender justice. Feminist foreign policy (FFP), with its focus on addressing structural forces of oppression and power inequalities (Centre for Feminist Foreign Policy, 2021), can offer an alternative approach to engaging in international relations – one that has the potential to craft solutions that will save lives, reduce violence and push the global community to revitalise its commitment to democratic governance and human rights for all. To do this it must take a transformative approach that avoids superficial acts of nation-branding or 'pinkwashing' (Sowa, 2023), referring to the political strategy of co-opting supposed commitments to minority rights to mask continuing forms of structural discrimination or other harms.

Context

Tackling anti-gender backlash through FFP requires first understanding the drivers fuelling the movement and its impact on democracy (Khan et al., 2023). Despite their different religious and political affiliations, a set of diverse actors and their organisations have been attacking the gender justice agenda in local, domestic, international and digital spaces for decades. They spend vast sums of money – \$3.7 billion globally between 2013 and 2017 (Global Philanthropy Project, 2020) – and are very well coordinated. So much so, that they are now termed by some an 'anti-rights movement' (CIVICUS, 2019; Shameen, 2021).

This diverse movement represents a determined coalition of stakeholders, including the Vatican, select governments and faith-based NGOs, and wealthy individuals. They work through transnational networks and funding flows to influence laws and policies at the multilateral level and across all continents (McEwen, 2020; Datta, 2021; Shameem, 2021). They build their own media outlets and educational platforms (such as PragerU), fund litigation, lobby for policy influence and even support individuals to reach positions of political power to influence governmental decision-making.

The movement's advocates are working hard to retain and expand the social, economic and political power they wield, while curbing that of the most oppressed. They weaponize traditional binary gender roles and norms to garner public support, resist change and maintain their position (Chenoweth and Marks, 2022; Khan et al., 2023). This works to the detriment of democracy and against efforts to reduce inequality, achieve social justice, and restore the well-being of our planet (IPCC, 2022; Edstrom et al., 2023).

The transnational nature of the 'anti-gender ideology' is a reminder that patriarchal biases are embedded into our social, economic and global political systems, reproducing a status quo that normalises women's subordination, heteronormativity and rigid notions of masculinity. Feminists' hard-won, fragile gains and rights to protect people from gender-based violence are targeted and challenged by anti-gender movements for violating 'culture' and 'religion' as interpreted by them (Sanders, 2018; Washington et al., 2021).

The growth of anti-gender movements has reinforced and aligned with another global trend – democratic recession (Mueller, 2023) or backsliding. Some authoritarian governments instrumentalise anti-gender policies to increase the legitimacy and stability of their governments (Bjarnegård and Zetterberg, 2022). For example, the Turkish government backtracked on its commitment to gender equality with increasingly patriarchal and conservative religious policies as it grew more authoritarian (Arat, 2021). The growing persecution of minority groups, including LGBTQI+ communities, has been noted as evidence of democratic backsliding through the erosion of minority rights (Flores et al., 2022). In response to critiques of such erosion of rights and freedoms, the Indian government defends its Hindutva policies in anti-colonial terms. This use of religion and culture appeals 'to disenfranchised or alienated groups in times of economic precarity and social change, calling for a restoration of patriarchal norms as a way to improve their lives' – which serves as a distraction from electoral autocracy and de-democratisation (Goetz, 2023).

FFPs could strategically tackle the complexity and international nature of anti-gender movements, and in so doing reaffirm their commitment to human rights and democracy – of which gender-equality is a crucial feature (Lombardo, 2023). If FFP's core objective is upholding and advancing gender justice and equality, then tackling the causes and tactics of backlash must be a priority. From their unique positions of power and influence on the global stage, FFP states have the potential to work together to create a more effective barrier against cross-border forces that are currently fuelling a regression on women's and LGBTQI+ rights around the world.

Policy action can be taken at three levels: domestically, bilaterally and globally within regional or multilateral spaces. Based on the views of leading scholars and activists in the field, and ODI's own research, this policy brief suggests areas of action that governments with existing and aspirational FFPs should consider to counter democratic recession and anti-feminist backlash.

1 Resource feminist movements working at the frontlines of democracy and defending collective rights

Women's movements have historically fought on the frontlines to defend human rights, topple military dictatorships, and demand democratic reforms across all continents and diverse geographies (Chenoweth and Marks, 2022; Jaquette, 2001; Khan, 2018). Currently they are resisting gender persecution in Afghanistan under the Taliban and in Iran's theocracy, while also confronting the rise of authoritarian and majoritarian politics in Turkey, Russia and India.

Feminist movements have succeeded in pushing back against misogynistic populism, such as in Brazil under President Jair Bolsonaro, and in Chile, where they won historic democratic reforms, proving that they are a powerful constituency for democracy (Carranca, 2018; Bakker, 2019). Feminist civil society activism holds governments accountable to deliver social services (while often plugging gaps in provision) and helps maintain public trust in the state, when ongoing distrust fuels anti-democratic populism. However, without coordinated diplomatic support and increased funding, feminist activists cannot be expected to stem the tide of retrogressive change that threatens democracy and gender justice.

Box 1 Leading from the South

Leading from the South (LFS) is a feminist Global South-led consortium conceptualised and managed by four leading women's funds including the African Women's Development Fund, Women's Fund Asia, Fondo de Mujeres del Sur and International Indigenous Women's Forum. Its mission is to strengthen feminist activism, advocacy and lobbying efforts of women-, girlsand trans-led organisations, focusing on movements and networks at the regional, national and grassroots levels in the Global South.

Financed by the Netherlands' Ministry of Foreign Affairs, LFS received initial funding of €42 million in 2017 over four years. This was scaled up in 2020 with €80 million in funding over five years, with additional support from Fondation Chanel. It is an innovative example of meaningful FFP government partnerships to resource feminist movements that are leading change and transforming societies for the full achievement of their human rights.

Source: Leading from the South, 2023.

In terms of bilateral support, feminist movements receive reportedly less than 1% of official development assistance (ODA) (Dolker, 2021) and LGBTQI+ movements receive only 0.04% of ODA (Global Philanthropy Project, 2020). To be effective, progressive activists, feminists, and human rights and climate defenders need resources (see Box 1), political backing and the freedom to work in open civic spaces. Their success and involvement in dialogical processes will lend credence to the 'feminist' in FFP.

- **Resource gender justice movements** as natural allies of FFP states through new modalities with predictable, long-term, flexible and core funds, and strengthen mechanisms for cross-border collaboration. States can set a goal of earmarking 20% of ODA for initiatives that have gender justice as its principal objective (MamaCash, 2022).
- Support feminists to enter states' domestic and multilateral gender negotiations to achieve human rights and dignity for all.
- Fund feminist leadership initiatives that enhance the political participation of women.
- Work closely with civil society in partner countries to better understand how to support their work for gender justice and facilitate South–South networking and learning.
- Finance the wider feminist funding ecosystem with support to women's funds that are best placed to resource the movements as directly as possible.
- **Diplomatically engage with partner governments to protect civic space** for autonomous feminist mobilisation, especially for non-ODA donor FFP states.

2 Defend and uphold the universality of human and women's rights in frameworks and conventions agreed in multilateral spaces

'FFP countries will also have to invest in defending women's rights just as heavily as current foreign policy invests in trade negotiations.'

Dr Anne-Marie Goetz, Clinical Professor, Centre of Global Affairs, New York University

While multilateral forums have provided spaces for collective action and accountability on gender equality, FFP takes place in the global arena where state sovereignty operates as one of the strongest protected norms. This allows nation-states to erect a wall behind which gender-related discriminations is permitted, in the name of national sovereignty, culture or religious tradition. With a growing number of committed states hostile to women's rights, harmful practices are sometimes defended as cultural preferences, in the name of 'preserving the nation' (see Box 2).

Box 2 FFP's role in challenging gender persecution in Afghanistan and Iran

Gender persecution is a recognised crime against humanity. However, many countries still engage in state-led policies to persecute women on the basis of their gender. In Iran, it is mandatory for women to wear the veil, and failure to obey is now punishable by up to 10 years in prison. Although many states do not have diplomatic relations with Iran due to their disagreements with its political and religious policies, FFP countries should work with Iranian women's organisations and expand beyond nuclear weapons-focused security concerns to address other concerns as articulated by Iranian women and other oppressed constituencies.

In Afghanistan, the persecution of women extends to banning them from work, education and public life. However, there are growing calls to recognise the Taliban regime and engage with it despite these measures. FFP states can exercise a unified voice at the multilateral level to advance the discourse around how diplomacy can build global consensus against gender persecution and show solidarity with women living in these countries.

For example, FFP governments could engage with the debate over the recognition of 'gender apartheid' as a crime against humanity, and thereby contribute to making gender persecution visible. This can demonstrate thought leadership and be used to mobilise international action for gender justice.

Source: Adebahr and Mittelhammer, 2020; Zelin, 2022; OHCHR, 2023; Parent, 2023.

Turkey, after sponsoring the 2011 Istanbul Convention to stop violence against women and domestic violence, became the first country to withdraw. This occurred alongside growing electoral authoritarianism and rising levels of gender-based violence and anti-feminist backlash and was framed within a politicised new discourse of preserving Turkish culture and religion (Acar and Altunok, 2013; Altan-Olcay and Oder, 2021; Arat, 2021).

To date, FFP countries have not built a front against backlash, despite ongoing politicisation of UN documents for ideological and religious aims, where 'norm-spoiling' (Sanders, 2018) takes away decades of international consensus on women's human rights (Goetz, 2023).

FFP states – from the Global North and South – can lead the way by investing in gender negotiations at the multilateral level, and by refusing to sideline women's rights through prioritising diplomacy that advocates upholding these conventions. FFP coordination, especially if working through existing coalitions like the FFP+ Group at the UN and spearheaded by Global South countries with feminist-informed foreign policy, could avoid neo-colonial imposition and be an effective counterweight to the highly organised and well-resourced anti-gender rights presence determined to 'norm-spoil' in multilateral spaces (Shameem, 2017).

'Why are we allowing these organisations to be accredited when they are working against human rights, against UN principles? That is bewildering to me.'

Omair Paul, Senior Global Advocacy Officer, ILGA (International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association) Asia

For example, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) was ratified by 179 countries and was crafted with support of feminist movements around the world. This and other landmark conventions and frameworks were historic gains for gender justice. Working together with bureaucrats and civil society organisations, governments developed domestic plans of action to ensure their implementation. These efforts demonstrate the interconnectedness between global and domestic policy agendas.

¹ As defined by Sanders (2018) the term 'norm-spoiling' describes the process through which conservative states and non-state actors wage concerted campaigns at the United Nations to directly challenge existing norms (such as those relating to women's reproductive freedom, social, economic and political equality) within international agreements.

- **Resource and appoint key positions or ambassadors** to advance FFP and implement a gender-justice focused agenda, such as gender equality or women's rights ambassadors in Australia, Canada, France, Mexico, Netherlands and Sweden.
- Fund initiatives that facilitate feminist civil society and women human rights defenders' access to key multilateral spaces, including as members of government delegations, to foster pathways to policy influence.
- Challenge corruption of UN accreditation system and civil society organisation appointments where anti-rights actors infiltrate spaces dedicated to advancing women's rights.
- **Collectively push back on norm-spoiling** and take an active stance against rights-eroding language by equipping diplomats and multilateral policymakers with strong gender negotiation mandates and skills.
- Create and strengthen existing coalitions with other FFP-friendly countries in partnership with feminist civil society to intervene with high quality feminist representatives in multilateral forums, including the UN General Assembly, the African Union, the European Union (EU), the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), UN Women, the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW), and COP.
- Global South FFP states can lead South-South consensus building and coordination.
- Host, support and finance regional and global conventions and ministerial-level engagements, such as the FFP+ Group at the UN, the Generation Equality Forum (UN Women, 2023), the Shaping Feminist Foreign Policy conference, the African CSW, and other gender justice forums with participation of feminist movements and other civil society actors, such as Women's Major Group, Women's Major Rights Caucus, and others.
- Urgently call for gender-rotation at the helm of the UN General Assembly to combat growing hostility to gender equality and justice (GWL Voices, 2023).
- Use diplomatic leverage to pursue political dialogue with states hostile to women's rights, ensuring women's participation and accountability for women's rights violations in the UN Human Rights Council.

3 Avoid funding actors that undermine gender equality and justice

FFP countries can cooperate to track the transnational networks and funding flows that seek to negatively impact both national, and international, gender justice work and rights-based norms. Anti-gender actors operate through transnational and intergovernmental NGOs based in the US, EU, Russia and Saudi Arabia. They include CitizenGO, Family Watch International, World Congress of Families, the Organisation of Islamic Cooperation, and the Alliance Defending Freedom (which, for example, is a US-based conservative Christian legal advocacy group working to expand Christian values within public schools and in government, outlaw abortion, and curtail the rights of LGBTQI+ people). Between 2008 and 2017, the aggregate revenue of such US anti-gender movements was \$6.2 billion – in that same period, 11 US organisations funnelled at least \$1 billion into countries worldwide (Global Philanthropy Project, 2020).

ODA also reaches anti-gender actors. Government funders of women's rights projects have disbursed funds to religious organisations with anti-LGBTQI+ values, such as the Inter-Religious Council of Uganda (Provost and Sekyiamah, 2023). Given the currently low level of ODA reaching feminist organisations, bilateral donors must be extremely careful with disbursement of funds for women's and gender equality. They need to be sure resources reach partner organisations upholding rights of all genders and sexualities – understanding that not all gender initiatives are feminist. This is why working with local feminist partners with knowledge of their communities is so vital.

Governments can act within their territories and cooperate multilaterally to stop providing funds that enable anti-rights movements abroad. This has been called for by LGBTQI+ activists in Uganda who understand how nation states are subject to such transborder forces (Namubiru, 2023), and have tracked funding from right-wing and fundamentalist groups in the US to Ugandan anti-rights campaigns (Soita Wepukhulu, 2023).

- Improve ODA due diligence and vetting processes on disbursement of funds to organisations working on gender (Provost and Sekyiamah, 2023).
- Finance and conduct research to map anti-rights funding flows and sources (i.e. Datta, 2021).
- Create pressure for transparency mechanisms to track cross-border financial transactions by known anti-gender actors and organisations.
- Tackle secretive use of tax havens by anti-rights actors and organisations, to disrupt the structural drivers of backlash (Goetz, 2023).
- Highlight and support the work of religious groups advancing gender equality norms, such as Catholics for Choice and Muslims for Progressive Values in the US.
- Support initiatives in partner countries that enhance democratic states' accountability to citizens by improving public services and livelihood opportunities.
- Advocate for debt restructuring to support provision of public services, which can strengthen the social contract and people's democratic rights and well-being. This can dilute the distrust and dissatisfaction with democracy that contributes to the appeal of anti-gender movements.

4 Protect sexual and reproductive rights, and uphold the civil and political liberties of all women and LGBTQI+ people both at home and abroad

The international global consensus on gender equality and women's rights that was achieved during the 1990s through landmark UN conventions and platforms of action is being steadily lost – due to the influence of states resisting the language of human rights and gender justice (Goetz, 2019). Anti-gender organisations are working through the UN with states that support their views, such as the Vatican, Iran and Saudi Arabia, and historically the US, to achieve the removal of sexual and reproductive rights language from international agreements (Washington et al., 2021). This jeopardises women's access to reproductive health and abortion care, having repercussions on their economic and political autonomy.

Anti-gender movements have created compelling and effective narratives to win public and political support for their agenda. They evoke new types of rights to subtly undermine and challenge mainstream human rights discourse (Lewin, 2021). They argue for 'natural rights, family rights and the right to life of the unborn' (Sanders, 2018), and use a language of 'parental rights' to justify the removal of comprehensive sexuality education from school curricula (Venegas, 2022).

By speaking of 'LGBT+ ideology', anti-rights populists delegitimise non-heteronormative identities as a threat to national identity and stoke hatred against marginalised groups, destabilising democracy and progress towards gender-inclusive societies. The success of these narratives worldwide can arguably be traced to funding, with the anti-gender movement receiving triple the amount of philanthropic funding of LGBTQI+ movements (\$3.7 billion compared to \$1.2 billion in 2013–2017) (GPP, 2020).

These narratives are reactionary, anti-LGBTQI+ and anti-women and girls, working to polarise public opinion and political discourse. The centrality of state entities to the protection and upholding of human rights cannot be understated, especially in a context of rising authoritarianism and far-right parties in states normally considered democracies (see also Bergman Rosamond and Davitti, 2022).

- **Commit to funding expanded sexual and reproductive health services** for all and channel resources to locally led service providers. Navigate unpredictable changes in donor funding by pooling resources and plugging funding gaps.
- As member-states, reject appointments of anti-gender actors and organisations in gender policy spaces such as CSW.
- **Pursue multilateral instruments that encourage domestic changes** towards guarantees to reproductive rights.
- Prioritise funding to grassroots movements and engage with local advocacy groups leading activism on reproductive and LGBTQI+ rights (Stephenson et al., 2022).
- Facilitate spaces for trans-border coordination and international dialogue on LGBTQI+ rights outside of national settings where civic space is shrinking.
- Appoint special diplomatic positions to advocate against gender persecution and for LGBTQI+ rights in global forums and negotiation spaces, and who can support the work of the UN Independent Expert on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity (Cooper-Cunningham et al., 2023).
- Establish safe routes of passage for refugees escaping gender persecution.
- **Support research to develop new narratives** that counter anti-LGBTQI+ rhetoric and reclaim any historical or pre-colonial norms that support sexual and gender pluralism.

5 Counter harmful discourse, narratives and conspiracy theories, especially in digital spaces

Digital spaces amplify reactionary voices, toxic masculinity, and regressive gender norms. Even as they served to elevate the voices of women during the #MeToo and #MareaVerde movements, among others, unregulated social media platforms are now a site of vicious backlash. Reactionary actors use social media to cultivate and inflame anti-feminist support, and use platforms to coordinate gendered mis/disinformation campaigns – often taking an extreme toll on women in politics (#ShePersisted and Fundación Multitudes, 2023). Furthermore, the conspiracy theory that 'gender ideology' is being used to destroy the traditional family and a 'natural' way of life is widely propagated online (Marchlewska and Cichoka, 2020). There are also growing concerns about links between gender-based violence online, such as in 'incel' forums, and men's violence offline (Bates, 2020; Srinivasan, 2021).

Box 3 Global initiatives to prevent online anti-gender backlash and democratic backsliding

Technology-facilitated gender-based violence (TFGBV) presents a threat to democracy because it harms and silences the diverse voices of women. Tech companies have so far failed to protect women, especially those publicly visible and subject to multiple intersecting discriminations. The transnational and global nature of these companies underpins the problem of tackling online violence, including the spread of gendered disinformation and abusive campagins, leading several governments to launch a Global Partnership for Action on Gender-Based Online Harassment and Abuse.

Established in 2021, this Global Partnership (which is part of the Tech for Democracy Alliance) was supported by several FFP governments such as Chile and Canada, together with Sweden and the US. They have supported research into the impact of TFGBV against women in public life, such as journalists, human rights defenders and women in politics. The coalition also issued a statement in support of women in Iran following the death of Mahsa 'Jina' Amini, calling for states to work with digital platform companies to create a safe online space, where women and girls are protected from state-sponsored violence that seeks to prevent them from their activism.

Source: di Meco, 2023; Social Development Direct, 2023; US Department of State, 2022.

To contend with backlash, FFP countries must address the major policy gap in this area, which is undermining democracy and political and social cohesion. Anti-feminist and anti-LGBTQI+ narratives should be tackled at the international level, as anti-rights movements operate across borders, working to re-entrench patriarchal gender norms and mobilise ideological resistance to women's and LGBTQI+ peoples' hard-won gains (Khan et al., 2023).

- Raise digital policy up the global agenda to tackle online misogyny, as through the Global Partnership for Action on Gender-Based Online Harassment and Abuse (see Box 3), and the UK Online Harms Bill.
- **Create global standards on countering backlash online**, including cross-border frameworks that reduce cyber-harassment and protect women in public/political life.
- **Design digital and algorithmic regulatory measures** to counter anti-rights content, incitement to hatred and violence, and misogynistic radicalisation online.
- Establish coalitions and cross-sectoral mechanisms to share best international practices for online safety policy, including standards for taking down harmful content.
- Invest in formulating alternative online narratives and strategies to counter anti-gender myths, working with local rights campaigners to generate locally relevant and contextually specific approaches and language.
- Invest in digital literacy education, training and programming to build citizens' skills to identify disinformation, protect against radicalisation and lead safe lives online.

Conclusion

FFP states can wield their political influence and collective diplomatic weight to counter an increasingly hostile global policy environment by developing cohesive strategies and alliances to counter anti-gender movements in international spaces. States must provide a coordinated response to protect and sustain the hard-won gains that built the global human rights framework for gender justice. Feminists and other social movement activists cannot achieve this on their own – they need FFP states to advocate and support their work on behalf of all marginalised groups at every level, domestic and international, and to hold anti-rights actors to account wherever they operate.

To be sure, some states adopting FFP must demonstrate awareness and humility regarding their own colonial legacies, and continued role in pursuing imperialist, racist and neo-liberal policies. Doing so will enhance their diplomatic effectiveness and ability to engage in meaningful dialogue on gender justice with countries in the Global South. For effective collaboration, Global North FFP countries must better coordinate when working with countries in the Global South – especially as the coalition of FFP states grows and attention will be on their credibility of living up to the feminist values they claim to embrace both at home and abroad.

When paired with the delivery of social services, and accountable democratic governance, these policy options to counter backlash resonate with FFP's aim of gender justice. While there is valid scepticism from feminist civil society in the Global South and North on the intentions and coherence of nation states declaring a feminist foreign policy, FFP governments can work as beacons in the world of international relations if they prove themselves consistent. This means living up to authentic feminist principles, pragmatically exercising diplomacy to address structural inequalities, and pursuing a world order based on democracy and social justice goals.

Annex 1 Partial list of participants

The table below lists those participants who attended the ODI roundtable 'How can feminist foreign policy counter the anti-rights and anti-democratic backlash?' (31 May 2023) and agreed to include their names in this ODI policy brief. Please note: while the brief draws on the expertise and insights of the roundtable participants, they do not bear any responsibility for its content.

Name	Role and organisation
Josephine Ahikire	Associate Professor, School of Women and Gender Studies, Makerere University
Annika Bergman-Rosamond	Senior Lecturer, University of Edinburgh
Saskia Brechenmacher	Fellow, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace
Damjan Denkovski	Deputy Executive Director, Centre for Feminist Foreign Policy
Beatriz Galli	Senior Policy and Advocacy Consultant, Ipas
Anne-Marie Goetz	Professor, Center for Global Affairs, New York University
Cheryl Hendricks	Executive Director and Professor, Institute for Justice & Reconciliations
Paulina Ibarra	Executive Director, Fundación Multitudes
Aditi Mukund	Programme Associate, Kubernein Institute
Nkatha Murungi	Assistant Director and Professor, Centre for Human Rights, University of Pretoria
Sohela Nazneen	Research Fellow, Institute of Development Studies
Omair Paul	Senior Global Advocacy Officer, International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA) Asia
Sandra Pepera	Director, Gender Women & Democracy, National Democratic Institute (NDI)
Nela Porobić	Researcher and Coordinator, Women's International League for Peace and Freedom
Rebecca Sanders	Associate Professor, University of Cincinnati
Naureen Shamim	Founder and Executive Director, Noor
Khatondi Soita Wepukhulu	East Africa Reporter, openDemocracy
Lyric Thompson	Founder and CEO, Feminist Foreign Policy Collaborative
Jessica Woodroffe	Director, Gender & Development Network (GADN)

References

- Acar, F., and Altunok, G. (2013) 'The "politics of intimate" at the intersection of neo-liberalism and neo-conservatism in contemporary Turkey' *Women's Studies International Forum* 41: 14–23 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2012.10.001).
- Adebahr and Mittelhammer (2020) 'A Feminist Foreign Policy to deal with Iran? Assessing the EU's options' Working Paper, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace: Washington DC (https:// carnegieeurope.eu/2020/11/23/feminist-foreign-policy-to-deal-with-iran-assessing-eu-s-options-pub-83251).
- Altan-Olcay, O., and Oder, B.E. (2021) 'Why Turkey's withdrawal from the Istanbul Convention is a global problem'. openDemocracy, 2 June (www.opendemocracy.net/en/can-europe-make-it/why-turkeys-withdrawal-from-the-istanbul-convention-is-a-global-problem/).
- Arat, Y. (2021) 'Democratic backsliding and the instrumentalization of women's rights in Turkey' *Politics & Gender* 18(4): 911–941 (https://doi.org/10.1017/S1743923X21000192).
- **Bakker, T. de** (2019) 'Gender, sexuality and international politics in troubled times: a conversation with Laura Sjoberg in Brazil' *Contexto Internacional* 41(1): 141–152 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1590/s0102-8529.2019410100007</u>).
- **Bates, L.** (2020) *Men who hate women: the extremism nobody is talking about.* London: Simon & Schuster.
- Bergman Rosamond and Davitti (2022) 'Gender, climate breakdown and resistance: the future of human rights in the shadow of authoritarianism' *Nordic Journal of Human Rights*, 40(1): 133-152 (https://doi.org/10.1080/18918131.2022.2072075).
- **Bjarnegård, E., and Zetterberg, P.** (2022) 'How autocrats weaponize women's rights' *Journal of Democracy* 33(2): 60–75 (https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2022.0018).
- Breckenmacher, S. (2023) 'Germany has a new feminist foreign policy. What does it mean in practice?' Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 8 March (<u>https://carnegieendowment.</u> org/2023/03/08/germany-has-new-feminist-foreign-policy.-what-does-it-mean-in-practicepub-89224).
- **Butler, J.** (2023) 'Who is afraid of gender?' Public lecture at the University of Cambridge, April (www. youtube.com/watch?v=yD6UukSbAMs).
- **Carranca, A.** (2018) 'The women-led opposition to Brazil's far-right leader'. The Atlantic, 2 November (www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2018/11/brazil-women-bolsonaro-haddadelection/574792/).
- **CFFP Centre for Feminist Foreign Policy** (2021) *The CFFP glossary*. CFFP: Berlin (https://centreforfeministforeignpolicy.org/2021/03/08/feminist-glossary-2/).
- Chenoweth, E., and Marks, Z. (2022) 'Revenge of the patriarchs' *Foreign Affairs* 101(2) (www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/china/2022-02-08/women-rights-revenge-patriarchs).
- **CIVICUS** (2019) Against the wave: civil society responses to anti-rights groups. CIVICUS Report. Johannesburg: CIVICUS (www.civicus.org/documents/reports-and-publications/action-againstthe-anti-rights-wave/AgainstTheWave_Full_en.pdf).
- **Cooper-Cunningham, D., Hagen, J.J., Akbary, A., et al.** (2023) *Queering peace and security:* recommendations to the United Nations Independent Expert on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity. Sheffield: University of Sheffield (openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/31533/1/).

- Datta, N. (2021) *Tip of the iceberg: religious extremist funders against human rights for sexuality and reproductive health in Europe 2009 2018.* European Parliamentary Forum Report. Brussels: European Parliamentary Forum (www.epfweb.org/sites/default/files/2021-06/Tip%200f%20 the%201ceberg%20June%202021%20Final.pdf).
- **di Meco, L.** (2023) *Monetizing misogyny: gendered disinformation and the undermining of women's rights and democracy globally.* #ShePersisted Report (<u>https://she-persisted.org/wp-content/</u>uploads/2023/02/ShePersisted_MonetizingMisogyny.pdf),
- **Dolker, T.** (2021) 'Where is the money for feminist organising? Data snapshots and a call to action', AWID brief (www.awid.org/news-and-analysis/new-brief-where-money-feminist-organizing).
- Edstrom, J., Khan, A., Greig, A., et al. (2023) *Grasping patriarchal backlash: a brief for smarter countermoves*. Countering Backlash Briefing 1. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (https://doi.org/10.19088/BACKLASH.2023.002).
- Flores, A.R., Fuentes Carreño, M. and Shaw, A. (2022) Democratic backsliding and LGBTI acceptance. UCLA School of Law Williams Institute Report (<u>https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/</u>publications/dem-backsliding-gai/).
- **Goetz, A.M.** (2019) 'The politics of preserving gender inequality: de-institutionalisation and reprivatisation' *Oxford Development Studies* 41(1): 2–17 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13600818.2019.16721</u> 44).
- **Goetz, A.M.** (2020) 'The new competition in multilateral norm-setting: transnational feminists and the illiberal backlash' *Daedalus* 149(1): 160–179 (https://doi.org/10.1162/daed_a_01780).
- **Goetz, A.M.** (2023) 'How can feminist foreign policy counter the anti-rights and anti-democratic backlash?'. Remarks during keynote speech at ODI roundtable', 31 May, online.
- **GPP Global Philanthropy Project** (2020) *Meet the moment: a call for progressive philanthropic response to the anti-gender movement.* GPP Report. Oakland: GPP (https://globalphilanthropyproject.org/2020/11/12/meet-the-moment/).
- **GWL Voices** (2023) 'Members GWL Voices'. Webpage. GWL Voices (<u>https://gwlvoices.com/</u> members/).
- **IPCC Intergovernamental Panel on Climate Change** (2022) Climate change 2022: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/).
- Jaquette, J.S. (2001) 'Women and democracy: regional differences and contrasting views' *Journal of Democracy* 12(3): 111–125 (https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2001.0049).
- Khan, A. (2018) The women's movement in Pakistan: activism, Islam and democracy. London: I.B. Tauris.
- Khan, A., Tant, E., and Harper, C. (2023) Facing the backlash: what is fuelling anti-feminist and anti-democratic forces? ALIGN Framing Paper. ODI: London (www.alignplatform.org/resources/briefing-facing-backlash).
- Leading from the South (2023) 'About us'. Webpage. Leading from the South (www.leadingfromthesouth.org/about-us)
- Lewin, T. (2021) 'Nothing is as it seems: "discourse capture" and backlash politics' Gender & Development 29(2–3): 253–268 (https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2021.1977047).
- Lombardo, E. (2023) 'Democracy, gender equality and democratic backsliding' The Loop Blog. The European Consortium for Political Research: UK. 9 March. (<u>https://theloop.ecpr.eu/democracy-gender-equality-and-democratic-backsliding/</u>).

- MamaCash (2022) 'Feminist Foreign Policy: Stronger action needed to resource feminist movements', MamaCash policy brief, Netherlands: MamaCash (<u>www.mamacash.org/media/221128_</u> mc_policy_brief-eng_artfinal.pdf).
- Marchlewska, M. and Cichoka, A. (2020) 'How a gender conspiracy theory is spreading around the world'. The Conversation, 23 March (<u>https://theconversation.com/how-a-gender-conspiracy-theory-is-spreading-around-the-world-133854</u>).
- McEwen, H. (2020) Un/knowing and un/doing sexuality and gender diversity: the global anti-gender movement against SOGIE rights and academic freedom. Norwegian Students' and Academics' International Assistance Fund Report (<u>https://saih.no/assets/docs/RAPPORT-2020-Web-final-</u>version-Orban-fixed.pdf).
- **Michalko, J.** (forthcoming) 'Where next for feminist foreign policy?' ODI Background note, London: ODI.
- **Mueller, J.W.** (2023) 'Democracies are not 'backsliding''. Project Syndicate, 27 September (www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/democratic-backsliding-rise-of-populistauthoritarianism-spin-dictators-by-jan-werner-mueller-2023-09).
- Namubiru, L. (2023) 'Understanding Uganda's anti-LGBTQ law'. *DeepDish podcast*. Chicago Council on Global Affairs, 22 June (<u>https://globalaffairs.org/commentary-and-analysis/podcasts/</u> understanding-ugandas-anti-lgbtq-law).
- OHCHR Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (2023) 'Iran's proposed hijab law could amount to "gender apartheid": UN experts'. Press release, 1 September (www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2023/09/irans-proposed-hijab-law-could-amount-gender-apartheid-un-experts).
- **Parent, D**. (2023) 'Iran's "gender apartheid" bill could jail women for 10 years for not wearing hijab.' The Guardian, 13 September (www.theguardian.com/global-development/2023/sep/13/iransgender-apartheid-bill-could-jail-women-for-10-years-for-not-wearing-hijab).
- Provost, C. and Sekyiamah, N.D. (2023) Progressive cash for the anti-LGBTQI backlash? How aid donors and 'feminist' governments have funded backers of Uganda's deadly Anti-Homosexuality Bill. Institute for Journalism and Social Change Report (<u>https://centreforfeministforeignpolicy.org/</u> wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Progressive-cash-for-the-anti-LGBTQI-backlash_.pdf).
- Sanders, R. (2018) 'Norm spoiling: undermining the international women's rights agenda' *International Affairs* 94(2): 271–291 (https://doi.org/10.1093/ia/iiy023).
- **Shameem, N.** (2017) *Rights at risk: the Observatory on the Universality of Rights trends report 2017.* Toronto: Association for Women's Rights in Development (www.awid.org/publications/rights-riskobservatory-universality-rights-trends-report-2017).
- **Shameem, N.** (2021) *Rights at risk: time for action. Observatory on the Universality of Rights trends report 2021.* Toronto: Association for Women's Rights in Development (www.awid.org/ours-2021).
- **#ShePersisted and Fundación Multitudes** (2023) 'Women in politics: the impact of social media on Peruvian congresswomen'. ALIGN Briefing Note. London: ALIGN (<u>www.alignplatform.org/sites/</u> default/files/2023-09/peru_briefing.pdf).
- Social Development Direct (2023) Technology-facilitated gender-based violence: preliminary landscape analysis. The Global Partnership of Action on Gender-Based Online Harassment and Abuse Report (https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/ attachment_data/file/1168818/Technology_facilitated_gender_based_violence_preliminary_ landscape_analysis.pdf).

- Soita Wepukhulu, K. (2023) 'Calls for US anti-rights groups to face action over Uganda anti-gay law.' OpenDemocracy, 5 May (www.opendemocracy.net/en/5050/uganda-anti-gay-law-sharon-slatertim-kreutter/).
- Sowa, T. (2023) 'In my view: are feminist foreign policies translating to real action?' in OECD (ed.) Developing co-operation report 2023: debating the aid system. Paris: OECD Publishing (www.oecdilibrary.org/sites/337d6469-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/337d6469-en#:~:text=It%20 is%20pinkwashing%20if%20a,of%20populations%20and%20embed%20injustice).
- Srinivasan, A. (2021) The right to sex. London: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Stephenson, E., Hayes, J. and Phorn-In, M. (2022) Furthering LGBTIQ+ inclusion and rights through feminist foreign policy. Australian Feminist Foreign Policy Coalition Issue Paper 5 (https://iwda.org. au/assets/files/AFFPC-Issue-Paper-FFP-and-LGBTQI-Inclusion-and-Rights_Stephenson-et-al.pdf).
- **UN Women** (2023) 'Gender responsive approaches to foreign policy and the 2030 agenda: feminist foreign policies'. UN Women Brief (www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-09/gender-responsive-approaches-to-foreign-policy-and-the-2030-agenda-feminist-foreign-policies-en.pdf).
- **US Department of State** (2022) 'Joint statement through the Global Partnership for Action on Gender-Based Online Harassment and Abuse on standing with the women and girls of Iran'. Media note, 8 December (www.state.gov/joint-statement-through-the-global-partnership-for-action-ongender-based-online-harassment-and-abuse-on-standing-with-the-women-and-girls-of-iran/).
- Venegas, M. (2022) 'Relationships and sex education in the age of anti-gender movements: what challenges for democracy?' Sex Education 22(4): 481–495 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14681811.2021.195</u>5669).
- Washington, K., Denkovski, D. and Bernarding, N. (eds) (2021) Power over rights: understanding and countering the transnational anti-gender movement. Volume II: case studies. Berlin: Centre for Feminist Foreign Policy (https://centreforffp.net/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/ PowerOverRights2_web.pdf).
- Zelin, A. (2022) 'Turkey calls for recognition of the Taliban's Islamic Emirate'. The Washington Institute, 17 March (www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/turkey-calls-recognition-talibansislamic-emirate).